IN THE UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FI FTH Cl RCU T

No. 93-7508
Summary Cal endar

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,
vVer sus
OSCAR HERRADA HERRERA,
Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court for the
Southern District of Texas
(CRL 93 29 2)

(Cct ober 10, 1994)
Before KING JOLLY, and DeMOSS, Circuit Judges.
PER CURI AM *
The question presented in this appeal is whether the
governnent failed to produce sufficient evidence of the defendant's
predi sposition to commt the offenses charged and failed to prove

that there was duress invol ved.

“Local Rule 47.5 provides: "The publication of opinions that
have no precedential value and nerely decide particul ar cases on
the basis of well-settled principles of |aw inposes needless
expense on the public and burdens on the legal profession.™
Pursuant to that Rule, the court has determ ned that this opinion
shoul d not be publi shed.



I

The jury found Oscar Herrada Herrera guilty of: conspiring to
possess with intent to distribute in excess of 100 grans of heroin
(count 1) in violation of 21 US.C 8§ 846, 841(a)(l), and
841(b)(1)(B); possessingwithintent to distribute in excess of 100
grams of heroin (count 2) in violation of 21 U S.C. 8§ 841(a)(1)
and 841(b)(1)(B) and 18 U S.C. 8 2; and using and carrying a
firearm in relation to a drug trafficking crinme (count 3) in
violation of 18 U.S.C. 8§ 924(c)(1). He was sentenced to concurrent
63-nmonth terns of inprisonnent on counts one and two and to 60
nmont hs on count three to run consecutively to the sentence i nposed
in the first two counts. The court also sentenced Herrera to
concurrent four-year terns of supervised rel ease on counts one and
two, and to a three-year term of supervised release on count five
to run concurrently with the sentence inposed in the other two
counts.

I

In cases when, as here, "the jury has been instructed on
entrapnent but has rejected the defense, the standard of review
before this Court is whether, when viewing the evidence in the
light nost favorable to the Governnent, a reasonable jury could
find, beyond a reasonabl e doubt, that the defendant was predi sposed

to conmt the offense.”" U.S. v. Hudson, 982 F.2d 160, 162 (5th

Cir.) (internal quotations and citations omtted), cert. denied,

114 S. . 100 (1993).



A defendant's willing and energetic participation in an
offense is sufficient evidence to establish predisposition. U.S.

v. Mra, 994 F.2d 1129, 1137 (5th Cr.), cert. denied, 114 S . C

417 (1993) (based on defendant's willing participation in a drug
transaction, jury could reject his testinony that he was entrapped
and find beyond a reasonabl e doubt a predisposition to commt the

crine); see also Hudson, 982 F.2d at 162 (recognizing that a

def endant's ent husiasmfor the crine can satisfy the predisposition
requi renent).

A reasonable jury could, from the evidence presented, find
that Herrera was predisposed to commt the offenses. Drug
Enf orcenment Adm ni stration (DEA) Agent Leonardo Perez testified to
Herrera's active and wlling participation in the undercover
negotiations leading up to the drug transaction. For exanpl e,
Herrera set out terns concerning how the transaction was to take
pl ace and told Agent Perez that he "would deal directly with him
not with anybody else.” Herrera also stated that he coul d provide
| arger anmounts of heroininthe future if the first transaction was
successful. Herrera arrived at the site where the drug transaction
was to take place arnmed with a | oaded sem -automati ¢ handgun, and
he sent an associate to get the heroin.

Al t hough Herrera's version of events differs sharply fromthe
version presented by the Agent Perez, the jury was entitled to
credit the testinony of the agent over that of Herrera. See

Hudson, 982 F.2d at 162; see also Mra, 994 F.2d at 1129



("Cenerally, speaking a defendant's testinony cannot by itself
establish entrapnent as a matter of |aw because, absent unusua
circunstances, the jury is always entitled to disbelieve that
testinony."). Thus, examning the evidence in the light nost
favorable to support the verdict, there was sufficient evidence
from which a reasonable jury could conclude that Herrera was
predi sposed to commt the offenses.

The jury also rejected Herrera's claimthat this conduct was
the result of duress caused by Torres' threats to himand to his
father. To establish a duress defense, the defendant nust prove:
1) that he was under an unlawful, present, inm nent, and inpendi ng
threat inducing a well-grounded apprehensi on of death or serious
bodily injury; 2) that he had not recklessly or negligently placed
hinmself in a situation in which it is probable that he would be
forced to choose crimnal conduct; 3) that he had no reasonable
| egal alternative to violating the law, i.e., no chance to refuse
to do the crimnal act and also to avoid the threatened harm and
4) that a direct causal relationship could reasonably be
antici pated between the crimnal action taken and the avoi dance of

the threatened harm U.S. v. Liu, 960 F.2d 449, 453 (5th Cr.),

cert. denied, 113 S. Ct. 418 (1992).

Since there was no evidence that Herrera was under a present,
i mm nent, and i npendi ng threat of death or serious bodily injury at
the time he participated in the heroin transaction, or that no

reasonable legal alternative existed to conmtting that crine, a



reasonabl e juror could have concl uded that his conduct was not the

result of duress. Thus, his argunent fails. See U S. v. Gant, 691

F.2d 1159, 1162-65 (5th Cr. 1987).
11
For the reasons stated herein, the conviction and sentence of
Oscar Herrada Herrera are, in all respects,

AFFI RMED



